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Heritage Statement: 41 Bedford Square & 11 Bedford Avenue July 2019

1. Introduction

This Heritage Statement has been prepared to inform and accompany a planning and listed building
consent application for submission in July 2019 for reorganisation, refurbishment and limited
reconstruction works to 41 Bedford Square and the associated annex, 11 Bedford Avenue. No. 41 is
part of the Grade-I listed terrace 40-54 Bedford Square, which itself composes the south side of the
whole Grade-l listed square and registered garden. No. 11 — largely a relatively modern
reconstruction — is not listed in its own right but as a curtilage structure of the main house. Both
buildings stand within the Bloomsbury Conservation Area.

The proposals aim to improve the functionality of No. 41 in its existing converted use as an office,
providing additional facilities and improving circulation between Nos. 41 and 11, without harmful
physical alterations. The proposals would form an independent office unit, matching the existing
use-class, contained within 11 Bedford Avenue, and with separate access reflecting this separate
address. The works provide opportunities to reverse previous alterations that have harmed the
historic and architectural interest of the buildings — especially in their interiors, and these alterations
are proposed in this application wherever possible.

This Heritage Statement accompanies a Planning Statement also by Assembly Associates in support
of architectural drawings of the proposals prepared by architects SMOK. Assembly Associates asserts
its copyright in respect of this Heritage Statement and the accompanying Planning Statement, which
may not be reproduced without their written permission.

The Statement begins with a history of Bedford Square, and of No 41 within it, including an account
of its major alterations. These inform a Statement of Significance which follows, describing the site’s
protected heritage qualities. This is in turn the foundation for the final section, a Heritage Impact
Assessment, which looks at the submitted proposals for alteration informed by the foregoing history
and significance, and assesses their impact on heritage significance. It concludes with a summary
justification taking into account national, London-wide and Camden Council planning policies.

2. History
2.1 Bedford Square and the Bedford Estate

Until the late seventeenth century the area north of Oxford Street, within the parishes of St
Marylebone and St Pancras, was largely still in agricultural use. John Rocque’s map of 1746 records
the first phases of residential development in these areas, following the early-Georgian classical
principles of town planning which had been pioneered in London in the mid-seventeenth century
first in Francis Russell, 4™ Earl of Bedford’s Covent Garden piazza, and then in Nicholas Barbon’s
squares and terraces around Covent Garden and Holborn. These early residential developments
were typically speculative, created by the disposal to housebuilders of leases on the lands of
aristocratic estates, such as that of the earls of Southampton in most of the area of modern
Bloomsbury. The builder-developers replicated across London the standard housing types designed
by typically unrecorded architects, adding decorative variations. The new principle of rus in urbe
brought the pastoral tastes led by the rural aristocracy into the city in the form of the garden square,
while post-Palladian architectural styles favoured uniting efficient terraced housing into grand,
symmetrical and palatial frontages.
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The earls of Southampton initiated development north of Holborn and St Giles, but at the end of the
seventeenth century, their lands passed by marriage into the Russell family, by then raised to the
rank of dukes of Bedford. A lull in residential expansion in the early eighteenth century stalled the
suburban development of Bloomsbury, but by the latter part of the century, conditions were right
for John Russell, the 4™ duke, to pursue an ambitious, prestigious extension of the area. The duke
died in 1771, but his wife, the dowager duchess Gertrude, and the estate surveyor, Robert Palmer,
began development of Bedford Square in about 1775. The involvement of William Scott, a
brickmaker, and Robert Grews, a carpenter, is recorded, and Thomas Leverton, a distinguished
architect of country houses and particularly noted for his delicate decorative interiors, who later
lived at 13 Bedford Square, is known to have been involved in the design of some. Despite the
speculative nature of the square’s development, and its phasing over almost a decade, and the
apparent lack of a single overseeing architect, the square was realised with a high degree of
architectural uniformity and as a holistic design. This reached a degree not previously achieved
elsewhere in London, expressive of the new tastes of the late eighteenth century and a testament to
the town planning vision and contractual expertise of the Bedford Estate.

Bedford Square proved a great success and remained a mainly residential square until the late
Victorian period, despite the commercial conversion and development of other Georgian residential
streets to the west around Tottenham Court Road. Its design proved influential in the style and
garden square layouts of later residential squares to the north in Bloomsbury, especially those on
the Bedford Estate itself. Some of the striking uniformity was achieved through the use of
standardised manufactured Coade-stone dressings and elements such as doorcases. Sir Nikolaus
Pevsner has remarked upon some of the idiosyncrasies of the architectural design which fail to
follow formal classical principles and hint at the square’s pragmatic, developer-led character. The
detailed architecture of the square — which is essentially a modest development of the Palladian
principles popularised by the Adam brothers half a century before — was in this sense less pioneering
than the manner of its planning and construction. Pevsner notes:

“Each side of the square is treated as a whole, with stuccoes, pedimented and pilastered five-
bay centre. The houses have entrances with window slits flanking the doors so as to make a tripartite
pattern, and surrounds of Coade-stone with intermittent vermiculated rustication and bearded faces
on the keystones.”

Grews and Scott completed each house as a shell based on their agreement with the Bedford Estate,
before internal finishes were carried out under the patronage of the final purchaser of the plot.
Notwithstanding decorative variations, facades match in their elongated windows at the first,
principal floor, with cast iron decorative balconies. The consistent plot widths typically generated
largely uniform plans, with the greatest variations only in the more notable addresses such as
Leverton’s No. 1. The houses all have basements extending to an excavation front area, railed at
street level, and rose with timber studwork walls to a roof of two pitches parallel to the front facade.
Within, only the staircase compartment was constructed in masonry, to allow for the stone
staircases to be cantilevered from it. Many of the houses contained decorative plaster or even
painted ceilings, completed presumably under the patronage of the first purchasers, on at least the
first floor.

In the 1890s, the row of mews buildings on Bedford Avenue which served the main houses in
ancillary uses such as stabling and storage, were entirely reconstructed (Pevsner and Cherry, 1998,
p. 323). The original mews buildings, which presumably resembled the surviving cottages connected
to residential terraces of comparable age and status in Bloomsbury and Marylebone, but are little
recorded except in plan, were replaced with the highly consistent red-brick-faced range on annexes,
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which survives today. Each annex plot has a matching facade arrangement of front door providing
access independent from the Bedford Square houses, and a sash window to raised-ground level over
a basement beneath. The facade has a strong, long, low parapet line, concealing a mansard behind.
The facade is relieved with relief diaper patterning, and terracotta and stone detailing.

2.2 No. 41 Bedford Square

No. 41 stands on the south-side range of Bedford Square, near the street that connects the square
to Bedford Avenue. It is 26ft. (8m) wide and 130 ft. (40m) deep. Andrew Byrne’s archival research
(1990, p.151) shows that it was first leased by the Estate in November 1777 for 99 years to the
bricklayer-developer, William Scott, for an annual ground rent of £6, which Scott further subleased,
21 days later, to the carpenter, Robert Grews. Their arrangement involved a peppercorn rent for the
first four years, followed by a ground rent of £18 4s. The house was already completed in 1779.

A complicated history of the completed building’s occupation survives from multiple sources. Byrne
identifies the first resident as Mr Serjeant Glynn, a Cornish politician and lawyer — occupations
typical of the Square’s early residents, because of proximity to both Westminster and the Inns. Glynn
was an MP and Recorder of London while a resident, but his occupation was short lived, and he died
at the house in September 1779. His tenancy was followed by that of William Lushington (to 1781),
then a series of barristers: Robert Peers (to 1819); Richard Richards, also a Welsh MP (to 1843); and
William Rogers (until 1861). During their occupation, some other names are recorded against the
property in Camden Archives: Sir John Bayley, a judge, was in residence 1820-29; and both John
Gregory and Henry Hodgson in 1853. These multiple residents may record a complicated history of
sub-leases. Commercial occupations seem to have given tenants their livelihoods from the second
half of the nineteenth century, including John Woolf, a stockbroker (resident 1865-84). A series of
short tenancies in the 1880s and 90s include a period of vacancy in 1896, before a patent agent,
Dugald Clerk, took up residence in 1897, remaining until at least 1902. As recorded by the blue
plague on the front of the house, Sir Anthony Hope Hawkins, the novelist, lived in the house from
1903 until 1917. After this point, the history of the house’s residents is less clear, but major
alterations recorded to 11 Bedford Avenue and the shared yard suggest the arrival of non-domestic
uses, and by the 1960s, the house seems to have been in use as a school. No. 41’s transition from
prestigious residence of lawyers and politicians, to less stable society tenancies first of the rich and
then of artists, before its acquisition by commercial demands, seems fairly typical of its Bedford
Square neighbours.

Presumably meeting the wishes of Glynn, No. 41 received decorative plaster-moulded ceilings and
fireplaces made by an unrecorded craftsman. These are depicted in photographs kept at the London
metropolitan archives some still surviving today.

2.3 Historical Alterations

The following account of the history of No. 41, record the surviving plans for past phases of
alteration of No. 41, from the late nineteenth-century until the late twentieth-century. The plans are
archived on microfiche at Camden Local Studies Library. Summary descriptions of the works are
provided.

No archival records survive relating to No. 41 prior to 1896, when a drainage application was
associated with plans by Langdale Hallett & Co. of Brompton Road for the installation of new gulleys,
soil and wastewater pipes in the basement of the house, including a six-inch stoneware pipe. A new
WC appears to have been installed at this time on the ground floor or above within the closet-wing,
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at the rear of the main stairs. At this date, there appears to have been no connecting corridor to the
new annex building at either basement or ground level. The plans were approved.

No plans above basement-floor were provided so the extant condition of the house at the end of the
nineteenth century is not otherwise recorded. From the early twentieth century, a series of major
alterations were made to the associated annex building, 11 Bedford Avenue, and to the yard
between the two buildings. This period of alterations suggests an intensification of commercial
activities in the square and its surroundings, as practical needs began to dynamically reshape the
uses and form of the originally domestic buildings.

In 1909, an application for further alterations to drainage submitted by James Smith & Sons of South
Norwood appended a set of plans apparently associated with the partial or total reconstruction of
the rear annex building behind the 1890s Bedford Avenue facade, and connecting link at this time.
No clear elevations survive in association with the early applications, so it is difficult to assess the
change in form and character that came with the reconstruction.

Smith & Sons’ plans show a large, top-lit room at ground-floor level in the annex building, with a
decorative fireplace located on the yard-side wall, is labelled ‘New Billiard Room’. Beneath this, with
yard-wall masonry containing two corner chimney breasts possibly retained from a pre-existing
structure, are two bedrooms. These alterations seem to have amounted to a residential extension of
the main house, perhaps providing more guest or service facilities for the tenant, Sir Anthony Hope
Hawkins. The plans appear to distinguish between two sets of additions: those for the annex building
itself (which was probably already in place but newly-built) and, significantly, those for addition of a
narrow linking corridor structure running along the party wall with no. 42 between No. 11 and the
rear closet wing of the house. Thus, a link structure between No. 41 and its Bedford Avenue annex
has only been in place since 1909. Elevations show this first link to have been brick-faced with sash
windows. A new WC was constructed at basement level at this time by creating a dogleg in the rear
connecting corridor and extending the existing closet wing with a corner projecting into the yard.
Elevation drawings are badly reproduced in the identified microfiche, but record proposed internal
elevations to the yard with a mixture of flat-gauged and arched brick lintels to multi- and single-pane
sash windows within walls of facing brickwork over two storeys.

In 1914, Bedford Square was surveyed and described in detail as part of the Survey of London, of
which Volume 5 covered the second, northern part of the Parish of St. Giles-in-the-Fields. A valuable
description of No. 41 at this time appears as follows:

“The premises have been considerably modernized, but four chimneypieces remain, that in
the front room on the ground floor being Greek in character, with panelled pilasters and acanthus
capitals. The one in the rear room on the same floor is treated with three-quarter lonic columns
carrying the cornice directly over, to which a shelf of later date has been added.”

“On the first floor, the chimneypiece in the front room (Plate 95) has coupled and bracketed
pilasters and sculptured frieze. That in the rear room (Plate 95) is inlaid with mottled green marble. It
retains the original cast-iron grate. The ornamental plaster ceiling in this room has four oval plaques
in square panels. According to Mr Anthony Hope Hawkins, the present occupier, it is composed partly
of old portions of a ceiling formerly in No. 30 or No. 31, Bedford Square, the remaining part being a
copy of a ceiling still existing in one of these houses. The ceiling appears to be replica of that in the
rear room if No. 31 (Plate 88), with the exception that it is of less width, and consequently the central
design, instead of being circular, is compressed into an oval form.”

The accompanying images are reproduced in Appendix B.
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In 1927 G.E. Wallis & Son of Old Cavendish Street, N1, submitted an approved drainage application
for No. 41 on behalf of Messrs. Elles-Hill & Co. The microfiche reproductions are difficult to read, but
the associated works relate to the extension of the above-mentioned 1909 WC with a further,
separate WC at ground-floor level, adjoining the connecting passage in the rear yard. Plans and
elevations record an existing escape stair standing perpendicular to the connecting passage to give
access into the stair, and propose support of the new WC at ground-floor level on a stanchion to
basement level to form an undercroft beneath, with modification of the yard elevation of the
passage by blocking-up of a sash window and formation of a new smaller light. The existence of this
peculiar arrangement in the rear yard, with oversailing ground-floor WC and stanchion prop, is
confirmed by a photograph of the yard in 1973 contained in the London Metropolitan Archives (ref:
70281, Appendix B). More pertinent to the main areas of heritage significance in the house, the
Wallis & Son plans include a full ground-floor plan, with an accompanying note than an existing
doorway adjacent to the main front door, from the entrance hall into the front room — certainly a
non-original position —was to be closed up.

Bedford Square was added in its entirety to the National Heritage List for England in 1951, meaning
that from this date, comprehensive drawings and permissions for all alterations were required, both
in association with the provision of the 1948 Town Planning Act, but also in order to gain approval
from national and local heritage bodies.

Hall Beddall & Co Ltd of Waterloo Bridge submitted an approved drainage application in 1955 for
partition of an existing WC on the first-floor landing in the pre-existing closet wing structure by
addition of a wall, lavatory basins and formation of a new doorway to match one existing to its right.
Two existing casement windows appear already to have lit the unpartitioned room.

More interestingly for a study of the heritage significance of No. 41, in 1963 Reckitt & Sons of Hull
submitted a drainage application for formation of a new bathroom and WC on the third floor of No.
41. Appended plans (again badly reproduced in surviving microfiche) show that No. 40 and No. 41
were at this point laterally connected at several points through the party wall to permit their joint
functioning as a girls’ school. The plans helpfully record the condition of both Nos. 40 and 41 across
all their floors. The alterations to the presumed original plan extant at this date can be presumed to
have been made before designation in 1951, and some can be further dated by comparison with
plans surviving above.

Regarding only No. 41:

e The basement and ground-floor plans show the rear yard, annex and connecting passages at
both levels in the condition established by the sequence of works described above, except in
that the 1909 billiard room has been laterally partitioned by a light-weight partition wall.

e At ground-floor level, the front room appears to have been formally divided by addition of a
partition wall across the rear of the front room to form an enclosed corridor leading off the
main hallway and via a doorway in the party wall giving access into No. 40. This partition was
added after the plans submitted in 1927 — presumably in association with the conversion
and lateral connection of the two houses for use as a school. The new partition and corridor
made use of the existing and likely original door into the front room off the staircase
corridor, which originally discharged into a partially-separated volume at the rear of the
front room, without a solid partition but expressed as a volume separate from the main
space centred on the chimney breast. From this space there would have been access into
the rear room via a central connecting doorway or opening. This sequence of volumes in the
original ground-floor arrangement is comparable to those shown in plans for other houses
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on the (younger) south, east and even north sides of Bedford Square (see: Pevsner & Cherry,
1998, p. 324; Survey of London, 1914, pp. 168 & 181). The plan and section drawings
accompanying the 1963 application appear to show a twentieth-century arrangement of
solid partitions around this space, perhaps with accompanying windows to provide
borrowed light, with access still into both front and rear rooms.

o At first-floor level, the equivalent arrangement was at some point made with a lateral
connection through the party wall and provision of an enclosed corridor within the foremost
portion of the rear room, abutting the rear chimneybreast. The accompanying sections show
timber panelled screens with doors, set into the original lateral walls dividing the two rooms,
corroborated by the plans, which may be original survivals.

e The plans show no further lateral connections above first-floor level, but alterations evident
from the presumed original plan include: a cupboard with issue into the room beyond
formed around the original doorway off the staircase landing into the rear room on the
second floor; and the cupboard, corridor, bathroom and WC which occasioned this 1963
application, formed from the foremost portion of the rear room at third-floor level, largely
enclosing the rear chimneybreast. A note records that existing plasterboard was to be
removed, and the new walls lined with plaster and expanded metal lathes.

e There was no attic space within the rearmost hipped roof above No. 41, as already existed
above No. 40. Rooflights appear to be shown in the ceilings of each of the front rooms at
third-floor, but their presumed position in the rear slope of the foremost roof hip of No. 41
is not clear in the roof plan.

A set of 22 photographs, mainly from the interior of No. 41 but some also showing external views, is
held at the London Metropolitan Archives. Many of them are erroneously dated 1907. These in fact
appear to show the house in a condition corresponding with the above plans from 1963; certainly
they pre-date the alterations recorded in the plans submitted with an application in 1974, described
below. A selection of images, useful for supporting this document, are reproduced in Appendix B.

A series of listed building consent and planning applications in the 1960s and 70s are not recorded in
drawings deposited at the London Borough of Camden’s archives. Details are recorded only in the
decision notices containing descriptions of development and the Borough’s response. In 1965
Reckitt & Sons submitted a listed building consent application for the erection of three new partition
walls — one in the basement of No. 40 and two in the front and rear rooms of the second floor on
No. 41. In 1966 the application was partly granted, but refused permission for the subdivisions
proposed for No. 41, so no change there is presumed. In 1970 the Borough granted approval to
Reckitt & Coleman Products Ltd for “Alterations to 5 existing openings in order to sub-divide the
buildings at 40 and 41 Bedford Square, Camden.” A plan (HD208) showing the “5 points of access”
and a schedule of works were submitted, but have not been located. It may be supposed that the
works refer to the blocking-up of the points of access through the party wall which had been made
in order to connect the two houses, probably shortly after 1927.

Pevsner & Cherry (1998, p. 325) record that “Nos. 40-53 [the whole of the south side of the Square]
were repaired and adapted as offices by Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh for Abbey Life Assurance, 1970-
92, linked to extensions provided in the Bedford Avenue annex behind. Original decoration was
meticulously restored.” Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh were active from at least the 1950s, gaining some
renown for their steel-frames modernist office and other civic buildings. A set of plans by the firm
dated 1972 show a layout in the Bedford Avenue annex, including a corner stack on the facade to
the yard, comparable to that appearing in the 1909 plans, but propose the formation of an extension
into the yard at basement level and a complete internal rearrangement which suggests that the
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present yellow-brick annex building with ground-floor terrace was part of a comprehensive
reconstruction of the annex ranges behind the Bedford Avenue fagade in connection with this
scheme. A sectional elevation shows a proposed two-storey link structure between the two
buildings, with a timber and glazed elevation at ground-floor comparable to that which currently
exists. Other major internal rearrangements proposed in these plans, and which seem to accord with
the existing condition are the extensive reorganisation of partitions in the rear rooms and around
the staircase at the rear of the third floor

Although comparison with the existing condition of the house and with the 1974 works described
below suggest that not all of the work proposed by Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh was carried out, that
which was is presumed to have taken place between the time of the above application by Reckitt &
Coleman and a 1972 application by Messrs. Cannon, Morgan and Rheinberg of St Albans, approved
by the Borough, for various works throughout the building — presumably in connection with its
occupation by a new tenant. The accompanying plans, HB294, have not been located, but the
decision notice describes the works as follows:

“(a) The replacement of the central, rear basement windows by a glazed door of appropriate
design;
(b) The removal of partitions and other works in the basement;
(c) The removal of the partition in the first floor rear room;
(d) The removal and alteration of partitions on second floor;
(e) The erection of a fire-resisting screen at the head of the stairs and other proposed works and
other proposed works on the third floor, subject to the following conditions:-

1. That the new railings and handrail at ground floor level should match those existing and the flights
from ground to first floors, and shall be detailed to the satisfaction of the Council.”

In 1974, Camden Council approved an application for alterations to WCs submitted by Bovis
Construction. Only a drainage application and drainage plans have been identified with these works,
suggesting that it was deemed too insignificant to merit a listed building consent application. The
submitted plans nonetheless identify some alterations to the fabric apparently made since the 1963
plans, and thereby confirm that the Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh plans were apparently only partly
realised. The 1974 proposed works included:

e Clearance of earlier partitions from the front room of the basement, to form a single room
centred on the chimneybreast, with two WCs formed behind the window beneath the main
entrance door.

e The removal of the foremost lateral screen or partition between the ground-floor rooms to
form one long front room, with a structural beam or downstand apparently indicated
spanning the room and bearing perpendicular on the rearmost corner of the front
chimneybreast. The doorway from the stair compartment into the rear room has been
blocked.

o The replacement of earlier asymmetrical doors in the hallway screen with a pair of
symmetrical double doors.

e The removal of all earlier lateral partitions and screens from the first floor.

o The closet wing to the rear of the stair compartment appears to have been significantly
altered or entirely reconstructed between 1963 and 1974, as it is shown on plans with a
canted projection into the yard

e Significant alterations to the annex building, including the construction of a flat-roofed
basement-level extension into the yard across the full width of the elevation, lit by three
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rooflights. The extension appears to have provided a single large room extending to the
Bedford Avenue frontage, presumably used as office space. Double doors from the
connecting corridor at ground-floor level open onto its flat roof. Plans show a lateral
subdivision of the annex building, with basement and ground-floor levels apparently
accessed from No. 41, but first-floor accessed via a dedicated and partitioned stair directly
from a doorway opening onto Bedford Avenue. Rooflights are shown in the southern
roofslope of the annex building above first-floor level, but a stair continues up to a space at
second-floor level, not shown.

2.4 Research Sources
John Summerson (1945) Georgian London

Andrew Byrne (1990) Bedford Square: An Architectural Study

W. Edward Riley & Lawrence Gomme (Eds.) (1914) Survey of London: St Giles-in-the-Fields, Part Il
(Volume 5)

Nikolaus Pevsner & Bridget Cherry (1998) Buildings of England: London 4, North

London Borough of Camden (2011) Bloomsbury Conservation Area Appraisal & Management
Strategy

Historic England (n.d.) National Heritage List for England: Camden, Bedford Square (South Side) Nos.
40-54 (Consecutive) (List entry number: 1244553)
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3. Statement of Significance

Bedford Square is one of the finest Georgian residential developments in Britain, and along with
elements of the surrounding Georgian streets forms part of an historic architectural ensemble of
international importance. The Grade-| designation of the square in the first phase of such listings in
1951, and the listing of the central garden itself at Grade I1*, and surviving associated street
furniture at Grade-ll, reflect its high significance. The Bloomsbury Conservation Area is, similarly,
considered among the most significant conservation areas in the country, incorporating important
Victorian and twentieth-century buildings and townscapes alongside its first-phase Georgian
development.

The designation of 41 Bedford Square at Grade-I formally denotes its possession of special
architectural and historic interest of the highest degree. As part of the wider square, it is a principal
element contributing to the character and appearance of the Bloomsbury Conservation Area, which
was designated to protect the historic and architectural interest of Bloomsbury as a designed
Georgian townscape, evolved through the subsequent centuries. These designations provide a
formal benchmark of the site’s degree of significance, but the elements of heritage interest which
compose it require more detailed elaboration in order to provide a guide to the acceptable scope of
development or alteration. As such, the significance of 41 Bedford Square and 11 Bedford Avenue is
composed of all the features and qualities that give it historic and architectural special interest, and
other sorts of heritage interest connected, for instance, with its contribution to the conservation
area. In the language of the government’s guidance documents under the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF), these can be described as aspects of architectural, artistic, historic or
archaeological interest.

The Historic England List entry does not provide a detailed statement of significance, but as well as
describing the architectural character of the exteriors, and decorative elements of particular
architectural interest surviving in the interiors, makes the following summary observation:

“The houses in Bedford Square form a very complete and important example of C18 town
planning. Built as a speculation, it is not clear who designed all the houses. [Thomas] Leverton was a
country house architect and may have been involved with only the grander houses... [Robert] Palmer
was the Bedford Estate surveyor and may have been responsible for the vagaries of the square. The
majority of the plots leased by the estate were taken by Robert Grews, a carpenter, and William
Scott, a brickmaker. The following have plaques or tablets: No. 41 was the residence of Sir Anthony
Hope Hawkins, novelist...”

Nikolaus Pevsner and Bridget Cherry, noting that it is “the best preserved of all London squares”,
observe that it is also “the finest urban development of [its] time...”:

“Each side of the square is treated as a single unit, with stuccoed and pedimented
centrepiece, the only London square of this type to survive complete. The broad doorways with Coade
stone rustication and handsome fanlights, and the use of stucco for the ground floor, echo Adams
developments around Portland Place, St Marylebone. The interiors differ, making use of a variety of
combinations of rooms with curved ends, often with bows overlooking the gardens behind, the main
rooms with refined plasterwork detail in the Adam manner. The most unusual is No. 1, designed by
Thomas Leverton, which has a centrally-placed doorway leading to an entrance hall filling the whole
width of the three-bay front. Leverton was involved in some of the other interior work in the square,
although there is no evidence that he designed the exteriors.”
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Bloomsbury Conservation Area was one of the first designated in the country after the enabling
legislation was passed in the 1960s. Bedford Square, as a principal and exceptionally-well preserved
example of the one of the early phases of the area’s development, is indispensable to the special
architectural and historic character and appearance of the Conservation Area which occasioned its
protection. The qualities of significance of the buildings as a piece of town-planning and an
architectural composition described in the rest of this section, are reiterated in Camden Council’s
2011 Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Strategy as the qualities of positive contribution
made by the square to the Conservation Area. The 1890s red-brick frontage and consistent scale and
detailing of the Bedford Avenue annex are noted for the discrete positive contribution they make to
the same Sub-Area 5 of the Conservation Area, particularly in the consistent contrast the strike with
the large Bedford Mansions opposite.

The houses’ architectural consistency, principally in the exterior composition and planning, and their
interior decoration and designed variations, are, then, consistently identified as Bedford Square’s
greatest elements of historic and architectural interest.

With regards to No. 41 and 11 Bedford Avenue, elements of historic, architectural, artistic and
archaeological interest can be summarised as follows:

3.1 Assessment of Significance
3.1.1 Architectural Interest

Bedford Square’s principal architectural interest is as a near-perfectly preserved residential square
of the 1770s, and one which was influential in the subsequent development of Bloomsbury and of
residential architecture elsewhere. Its grandeur of composition is underlined by its qualities of
symmetry and decorative unity, which means that all the houses of the Square form an intimately
connected group. The dressings and architectural elements which contribute detail to and compose
its palatial facades — even in the fact of their sometimes rudimentary quality, as observed by Pevsner
— are all elements of high architectural interest. The facade of No. 41 to the Square, along with
attached railings and the bridge and steps, is perhaps the most important architectural feature of
the house.

The interior of the house is of high architectural interest where elements of its original plan-form,
material construction, and evidence of historic uses remain, in the sense that these are intrinsic to
the designed unity and function of the house as part of the Bedford Square development; though
they are perhaps of less interest than the house’s exterior. Among these interior architectural
elements, there is a gradient of interest, such that the finest, crafted decorative elements, such as
the moulded plaster ceilings of the principal rooms, are most precious, followed by associated facing
features such as historic skirting, doors and sash windows and their frames, and then standardised
historic construction materials including floorboards and lathe-and-plaster wall fabric. These are all
elements of architectural interest. Since the basement and third floors have been subjected to the
most alteration in the main house, the interesting features are thus concentrated between the
ground and second floors, with the ground- and first-floors among these — which were the highest-
quality rooms of the original construction — having especially significant architectural interest. The
cantilevered stone stair and its associated features is of similarly high interest.

Areas of modern construction, where plan-form has been altered, such as in the closet-wing and in
many of the plasterboard partitions and modern office finishes of the basement and third floors,
have no architectural interest. Modern rooflights and doors, including the glazed door to the
basement lightwell area, are of no architectural interest.
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No. 11 Bedford Avenue’s architectural interest is entirely vested in its 1890s red-brick street
frontage, which is raised over a basement, and is consistent with the rest of the rebuilt mews row in
its raised diaperwork, stone and terracotta dressings. The architectural contribution of these
frontages to the Conservation Area is arguably greater than their interest as a curtilage structure of
the main Bedford Square Houses, which they post-date by more than a century: their original mews
functions are not in any way recalled in the 1890s facade. The building behind the facade is of very
modest architectural interest, mainly only for its form and position in relation to the main house —
that is, its subordinacy, scale and basic arrangement as an ancillary building. It has been extensively
reconstructed at several times in its history, its current facade to the courtyard bears no relation to
that which was standing even in the 1970s (Appendix B), and even the oldest masonry elements that
might survive could date only from the 1890s. The building is unlisted, reflecting this modest
significance.

3.1.2 Historic Interest

The intact form and decorative unity of Bedford Square is a record of historic interest for the way it
evidences housebuilding and domestic architecture in the revival of residential development in
London which extended into the early nineteenth century. The use of standardised Coade-stone
decorative elements produced in Lambeth, and the speculative development of the Square with
strong oversight by an estate, but otherwise by entrepreneur developers without great architectural
expertise or leadership, set the pattern for the development of much of the building-out of
Bloomsbury, Marylebone and other areas of Inner London during the following half-century. No. 41
is part of this historically-interesting piece of town planning.

The designed qualities particular to No. 41 within the square have a subtly different sort of historic
interest for the small clues they give us about its early occupants and their lives and preoccupations,
as a segment of London society at a particular moment in the past. Even modest areas of plan-form
or historic features from service quarters can carry historic interest as evidence of the past uses and
users of the house — however, few of these survive at No. 41. Sir Anthony Hope Hawkins is a figure
of modest historic significance, but the only alterations that can be confidently associated with him —
those of the 1909 reconstruction of the 11 Bedford Square with a billiard room and bedrooms and
the first two-storey link structure in the rear yard — are no longer in evidence. The personal, as
opposed to general urban, historic interest of Nos. 41 & 11 is thus limited.

3.1.3 Artistic Interest

No. 41 is not known to feature in or to have contributed to any artistic works of particular
significance; however, Bedford Square as a whole has been extensively depicted and described in
cultural works. As such, the contribution of No. 41’s exterior, and to a limited degree its interior, to
the unity of the whole square is its only source of artistic interest.

3.1.4 Archaeological Interest

Archaeological interest relates to the evidence that standing or buried fabric can provide of the past.
The sequence of physical changes evidenced by the standing fabric of the house is thus an aspect of
archaeological interest in so far as the alterations relate to periods and changes that are of interest.
In practice, archaeological evidence of past alterations is often best recorded archivally, since the
alterations themselves will often have harmed or obscured the significance of older fabric. In
Bedford Square, where heritage significance is overwhelmingly to do with original designed qualities,
archaeological interest is very limited; however, the house must still be treated with care and
integrity as a material record of the past.
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3.2 Summary of significance by location

Focusing on surviving fabric of architectural and historic interest, the significance of different areas
of the house and annex building can be summarised as follows.

3.2.1 Annex building, connecting corridor and yard

The 1974 plans indicate that substantial alteration and reconstruction had taken place in all areas
behind the original rear facade of the 1890s annex. Given the extent of works evident between only
1963 and 1974, it seems unlikely that any earlier external fabric, and therefore little historic fabric
within the building, could have survived behind the rebuilt facade to Bedford Avenue. Since the
photograph of the yard apparently taken in 1973 (Appendix B), the internal facade of the annex has
apparently been entirely rebuilt in a simple historicist style in yellow brick with sash windows, and
historic plans suggest that the entire annex and accompanying link structure date from about this
period.

Some historic brickwork may have been retained from the structure connecting the main house to
the mews, or in the internal walls of the annex itself, but this is likely to have been heavily altered,
and in either case dates to the 1890s at the earliest.

3.2.2 Basement and third floors

Within the house, the front basement and third-floor levels have undergone considerable alteration,
with most partitions somewhat altered. Their original form may have been reinstated, recovering
the architectural significance of the sequence of volumes, but some of the fabric is likely to be
modern and perhaps of modern materials and construction techniques, and may therefore have
relatively low architectural significance.

3.2.3 Ground and first floors

Alterations at the principle ground- and first-floor levels, associated with an apparent school use
during the mid-twentieth century, appear to have been reversed in the 1970s, perhaps as part of
Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh’s refurbishment, which Pevsner & Cherry noted, included the
“meticulous” (p.324) restoration of decoration. In these areas, the reinstated fabric — even where it
is of recent date — will have greater architectural significance than the undecorated and standard
fabric and volumes of the upper and lower floors, since it is now part of the coherent interior
architectural scheme which is original or authentic to the house.
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4. Heritage Impact Assessment

4.1 Statutory Assessment and Planning Guidance

Proposals will be assessed by Camden Council against its statutory obligation under the 1990
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act when determining whether to grant listed
building consent. Considering No. 41 as a listed building, the Act requires the Council to “have
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. The Act also requires the Council to “preserve
or enhance” the “character and appearance” of the Bloomsbury Conservation Area. These features
of special architectural or historic interest, character and appearance, have been briefly reviewed as
part of the Assessment of Significance, above.

The Council officers will be guided by national planning policy, supplemented by the London Plan
and its guidance documents, as well as local planning policy and guidance on more detailed
considerations of townscape, conservation and design. The London and Camden supplementary
planning documents accord with the provisions of the Act and the NPPF. Since nothing approaching
substantial harm to the special interest of the listed building is proposed by the applicants, the
relevant paragraph of the NPPF (2018) is:

“196. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”

Camden’s Local Plan contains detailed policies to ensure high quality design (Policy D1) and the
conservation of the historic environment (D2 Heritage) and these will be applied to both the listed
building consent application, covering the aspects of the proposal affecting the special interest of
the listed building, and to the planning permission application with regard to its effect on the
conservation area. Policy D1 emphasises Camden’s demand of contextual design of the highest
quality, while D2 stresses the Council’s determination to resist harm to listed buildings and to seek
enhancement of conservation areas. Further guidance is provided in the Camden Planning Guidance
document ‘Design’, published in March 2019.

4.2 The Proposals

The proposals aim to lightly refurbish Nos. 41 & 11 to support their continued use as offices — with
an independent office unit formed in the separate address at 11 Bedford Avenue — taking the
opportunity to introduce new ancillary facilities for the new occupiers in areas of low heritage
sensitivity on the third floor of the main house and within the annex building, as well as to remove
unsightly and harmful modern additions and alterations which have obscured the architectural
character and heritage significance of the building.

4.2.1 Basement
In the basement, proposed alterations are as follows:

e Modern glazed door infill-panel removed;
New painted timber panel door to form historically-appropriate reinstated entrance.
o This alteration promises real heritage benefit by reinstating a more historically-
appropriate timber-and-glazed panel door to the highly significant front facade at
the basement lightwell area.
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e Former front room: WC cubicles stripped out and modern block masonry partitions
demolished;
New timber-framed partition with skimmed plasterboard and timber skirting to match
existing adjacent.

o Along with other alterations listed below, this strip-out and making-good would
partially return the basement to an arrangement closer to the historic (though
perhaps non-original) tripartite layout recorded in the 1896 plans. The better sense
of the historic layout and function of the basement floors thus recovered would be
of heritage benefit to the architectural and historic interest of the building.

e Former rear room: Modern joinery fittings stripped out of historic rear room.

o Impact as above.

e Corridor: Modern WC and storage facilities stripped out;
New W(Cs, lobby and cloakroom formed with lightweight partitions.

o Necessary WC and storage facilities can be accommodated within existing space
borrowed from the historically (as recorded in 1896 plans, though possibly not
original) full-width front room, though the partitions themselves will be
reconstructed, in part to allow formation of a new entrance lobby from the
basement lightwell area. The encroachment on an open area of historic plan-form is
largely as existing, but anyway affects an area of only limited architectural and
historic interest, so causes no additional harm.

e  Partitions: Blockwork closing former doorway in lateral partition taken down;
New doorway created within masonry wall;
Construction of lightweight lateral partition wall in historic position.

o The recovery of one historic, non-original opening by removal of infill masonry and
the formation of a new doorway through the lateral masonry partition wall to allow
circulation through the basement would minimally alter plan-form and cost a small
amount of historic fabric of limited architectural interest. The minor harm associated
with this change is to be balanced against the overall recovery of historic plan-form
and circulation, including by the proposed lightweight partition to form a staff
kitchen, reflecting the pre-1896 arrangement.

4.2.2 Ground floor
No significant changes are proposed within the main house at ground floor.

4.2 .3 First floor

At first floor, proposed alterations are as follows:

e Front room: built-in office kitchenette units dismantled and removed;
Modern joinery units removed from chimneybreast alcoves;
Making-good to chimneybreast, walls, floors and ceilings in matching materials.

o These alterations bring significant heritage benefit for the architectural and historic
special interest of the principal, first-floor room by revealing the chimneybreast and
alcoves — an important spatial feature — and carefully making-good to the space,
including its highly significant decorative plaster ceiling.

4.2.4 Second floor

At second floor, proposed alterations are as follows:

e Rear room: Modern joinery units removed from chimneybreast alcoves.
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o As at first-floor level, the removal of unsympathetic modern joinery from the
chimneybreast alcoves will reinstate the designed spatial qualities of the room,
bringing some heritage benefit to architectural interest.

e Front room: Full-height partition screen taken down to reveal chimneybreast and abutting
surfaces made good.

o Also as in the room beneath, the removal of a modern full-height partition and the
associated making-good of abutting surfaces will bring significant heritage benefit to
architectural interest by recovering plan-form and lost spatial qualities, which have
been more dramatically disrupted in this room than elsewhere.

4.2.5 Third floor

At third floor, proposed alterations are as follows:

e Stair: Modern Georgian wired glass removed from lantern;
Plain, obscure glass fitted to refurbished lantern.

o This minor refurbishment of the original Georgian stair lantern will enhance its

presentation and so its architectural interest, providing heritage benefit.
e Rear: Modern plasterboard partition within small cellular room taken down;
New boiler cupboard formed off corridor, with painted panelled timber door.

o Ingeneral, alterations around the rear of the third floor affect partitions and
elements of plan-form apparently formed in association with 1963 plans during the
period of the use of the house as one half of a girls’ school. The formation of a boiler
cupboard by removal of a small amount of partition wall of very limited historic
interest from a non-original corridor would be mitigated by its integration with built-
in storage within the non-original volume of the rear room, and would cause only
very minor harm. This may be balanced against demolition of a modern plasterboard
partition within a small non-original room near the staircase would be a very modest
benefit, by adding a little more openness to the plan-form at this level. Design of the
service run for the proposed boiler and associated pipework requires more detailed
investigation of the floor structure, and is proposed to be secured by condition
pursuant to the granting of listed building consent for these proposals. A new flue
would be needed, through the rearmost roof slope, but would avoid cutting through
any historic timbers of the roof structure and not be visible from ground level.

e Front: Existing downstand beam retained;
New timber-framed partition with skimmed plasterboard and timber skirting to match, and
built-in storage cupboards, formed beneath retained downstand beam.

o The proposed subdivision of the front room could be the source of modest harm to
the architectural interest of the plan-form, but would provide needed staff facilities
with relatively limited impact on the overall heritage significance of the house.
Reflecting the position of an existing downstand beam, it would substantially
replicate an arrangement apparent in existing plans dated 1972 — and possibly more
historic — rather than instigating a novel alteration. Its finish and positioning would
be in keeping with the traditional style of the interior, but distinguished by its layout
and presentation with integrated storage, mitigating any minor harm it may be
considered to cause.

e  Partitions: 4no. new doorways created in modern plasterboard partitions
Modern four-panel timber doors removed and reused.
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o Four new doorways rationalising circulation would be created with loss only of
almost certainly modern fabric, thereby causing no harm. Historic circulation,
associated with the interest of the plan-form, is already disrupted at third-floor
level.

e Secondary glazing to be fitted to all third-floor windows.

o Because the third-floor facilities are proposed for quiet resting periods by senior
company staff, secondary glazing is proposed to be fitted to all historic sash
windows on this floor. The detailed design for each reveal is proposed to be secured
by condition; but, as a standard energy-efficiency, reversible and amenity-assuring
alteration, restricted to a level of the building where architectural interest is limited,
the secondary glazing would not cause harm.

e Existing rooflights refurbished.
o Existing rooflights would be refurbished, causing no harm to special interest.

4.2.6 Exterior

The fagade to Bedford Square is of yellow stock brick and is heavily pollution-stained. Its facing brick
is tuck-pointed with lime mortar but overall the facade suffers from a mis-match of pointing types
with variable workmanship quality. It is proposed to gently clean the facade using Joss/Doff system
specified by Stonehealth Ltd., and with the brick pointing expertly reformed in lime-work to match
the historic condition. Carried-out sensitively, this work can be of heritage benefit, helping to
maintain the condition of the facade materials. The sensitivity of this proposal given the special
significance of the facade for the architectural unity of the square, is recognised. It is therefore
proposed that discrete cleaning and repointing sample panels should be required by condition in
two locations, to be agreed with the Council, and signed-off by the Council’s Conservation Officer
before the work is carried out. Facade metalwork and joinery would also be cleaned and
redecorated to match the existing colour scheme.

4.2.7 11 Bedford Avenue annex building

More extensive works are proposed to the annex building and its associated link structure, which in
its current form detract from the historic character of the rear yard by its limited quality,
unsympathetic appearance and encroachment upon the historic yard space. These detracting
aspects will be addressed in conjunction with the reorganisation of the modern structure of the
annex building behind its facade to provide new facilities in an area of low heritage sensitivity.

e Basement: modern plasterboard ceiling and suspended ceiling tiles taken down;

Modern WC cubicles stripped out;

Modern office partitioning systems and associated fittings stripped out;

Back wall of plant room demolished;

Replacement air-condenser plant installed to enlarged plant room;

Addition of downstand beam spanning space laterally, with new ceiling finishes throughout;

Formation of timber-framed partitions with timber doors to gym and facilities for use by 41

Bedford Square office;

Formation of WCs and emergency escape passage for use by 11 Bedford Square offices.

o The sequence of historic alteration plans suggest that almost no historic fabric from

the 1890s annex building survives, nor even from the structure shown in the 1973
LMA photograph. This is particularly true at basement level, where the building was
extended into the yard, forming a terrace above. The reconstruction of this and
partitions within would cause no harm, but allow enhanced functionality and
circulation for continued office use.
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e GF: Modern office partitioning and associated fittings stripped out;
Bitumen felt-covered former skylights and former guardrails removed;
Modern steel guardrail dismantled and removed;
Existing fagade enclosure to link-block removed;
Enlarged open terrace space spanning created for use by 41 Bedford Square offices,
extending into area of former link structure;
New painted timber-panelled doors to from No. 41 corridor and annex building to terrace —
latter fixed shut except for emergency access;
New painted steel guardrail of a simple bar and rail design.
New terrace formed and paved with Yorkstone laid in equal rows, with flush glass walkway
skylight adjacent to courtyard facade of annex building;
Lower-panes of annex building sashes fitted with obscure privacy film;
Low-level louvre vent grille to street frontage replaced;
New skimmed plasterboard ceiling to refurbished office space.

o Enhancements to the presentation of the yard structures would be achieved by
proposed works at ground-floor level, which include improved presentation of the
terrace by addition of Yorkstone paving and simple cast-iron guardrails appropriate
to the historic character of the space. The existing light-weight timber and glazed
link-structure along the party-wall at ground-floor level, which incongruously stands
over a glazed structure at basement level, and which is suffering from wet rot,
would be replaced by a cleaner glazed link and a simple canopy structure above,
allowing the better presentation of the annex building itself as an ancillary structure
distinct from the main house and of historic character, with sash windows and
panelled timber doors. Other alterations, affecting only internal fabric of little or no
architectural interest, would cause no harm, and would leave the existing, non-
historic but consistent form and complementary aspects of the appearance of the
annex building substantially intact.

e Mansard first-floor: office partitioning taken down.

o Reorganisation within the mansard floor of 11 Bedford Avenue would affect no
fabric of historic or architectural interest and so cause no harm.

e Link building timber-and-glazed facade and glass door dismantled and removed;
Glazed curtain wall and door to form link opening into courtyard;
Canopy constructed adjacent to party wall over external terrace in area of former link
structure.

o Nothing remains of the 1909 link structure which facilitated the extension of
domestic uses into the 1890s annex building: the link structure has been replaced in
connection with the repeated conversion of Nos 41 & 11 to commercial and other
uses. The ground-floor link structure is likely to date to the early 1970s, and the
glazed portion at basement level to be a still more recent alteration. As such, its
deconstruction and replacement with a single-storey, glazed corridor and canopy at
ground-floor level, would involve no loss of fabric of architectural or historic
interest, but would reinstate something of the arrangement in a manner which is
consistent with the actual historic development of the house and mews, but better
reflects its current use. In conjunction with the other material enhancements and
reorganisations, it would contribute to the better presentation of the relationship
between the actual historic house and the reconstructed form of its ancillary annex,
in which heritage significance is entirely vested. Well detailed, the proposals in this
area would be of heritage benefit.
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5. Summary Justification

The proposals aim to retain the building in office-use, without attempting potentially harmful
subdivisions within the historic Bedford Square house; whereas an independent office unit is
proposed within the annex building, to reflect the independent function and frontage manifested in
the 1890s reconstruction of the Bedford Avenue range. This division would have no effect on the
character of the Conservation Area nor would cause any harm to the listed building, since it
necessitates no external alterations and an internal reorganisation affecting only modern fabric of
no historic or architectural interest. In general, behind the 1890s facade, the annex building has
been comprehensively rebuilt and altered, and its contribution to the special interest of the listed
building apart from this facade is by recalling a typical formal relationship of the house with its lost
mews building. The present late-twentieth-century form is consistent with its neighbours, and the
envelope would not be altered. The proposals would enhance its historic character and the
presentation of its relationship of form and function to the house by means of reduction and
reconstruction of the non-original link structure, and so may on balance be considered to be of
modest benefit to special interest and the character and appearance of the Conservation Area as
required by Policy D2. By this approach, the proposals around the rear yard, link and annex meet
Camden’s D1 policy encouraging high-quality contextual design.

The proposals for cleaning and repairs to the Bedford Square facade are proposed to be managed in
close co-operation with the Council, and nothing is intended which would harm the character and
appearance of the Bloomsbury Conservation Area

Within the historic house, the proposals would remove unsympathetic alterations where they have
obscured fabric of architectural and historic interest, making good and reinstating lost spatial
qualities. Alterations, including new doorways and additional partitions would be located in areas
which have seen much historic alteration — specifically the front basement and rear third floor —and
are balanced within the proposals both by the enhanced presentation of significant spaces, and by
more modest reinstatements and enhancements, such as the reintroduction of an historically-
appropriate basement entrance door, a simpler and historically-informed layout at basement level,
and the removal of superfluous partitions in areas with modern more modern cellular arrangements.
The proposals would enhance the special interest of the listed building, as encouraged by Policy D2,
and by recovering obscured elements of architectural special interest, outweighing minor,
unavoidable harm, mitigated by quality of design and materiality.
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Appendix A

Selected historic plans
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1 Plan drawings for 1909 application (Camden Local Studies Archive)
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2 Plan and elevation drawings for 1927 application (Camden Local Studies Archive)
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4 First-floor plan and section drawings for 1963 application (Camden Local Studies Archive)
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5 Second- and third-floor plans for 1963 application (Camden Local Studies Archive)
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6 Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh existing plans, dated 1972 (in applicants' possession)
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7 Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh's 1972 proposed plans (in applicants' possession)
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8 Proposed section drawing from Ellis, Clarke & Gallannaugh's 1972 plans (in applicants' possession)
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9 Basement, ground- and first-floor plan drawings for 1974 application (Camden Local Studies Archive)
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10 Second- and third-floor plan drawings for 1974 application
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Appendix B

Selected archive images

11 Plate 95, Survey of London: St Giles-in-the-Fields, Part Il (Vol. 5, 1914)
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12 Staircase compartment and lobby (London Metropolitan Archive, ref: 70241)
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13 Ground-floor front room including chimneypiece (70244)
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14 Second-floor front room depicted in 1965 (London Metropolitan Archives, ref: 70203)
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15 Second-floor rear room depicted in 1965 (LMA, ref: 70204)
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16 Yard and annex building in 1973, showing early-twentieth century facades (London Metropolitan Archives, ref:70281)
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